RECEIVED The Wisconsin Court of Appeals District IV CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

2019AP001138 CR

State of Wisconsin, Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

Scott A. Walker Defendant-Appellant

> Appeal from The Circuit Court of Grant The Honorable Robert P. VanDeHey, presiding

Brief of Appellant Scott A. Walker

Steven Roy Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant Wisconsin State Bar No. 1115155 1310 O'Keeffe Ave. #315 Sun Prairie, WI 53590

8

| Table of C | <u>ontents</u> | |
|---|--|--------------|
| Statement | of the Issues | 2 |
| Statement on Publication and Oral Argument | | 2 |
| Statement of the Facts and Case | | 3 |
| Argument | | 4 |
| - I. | Standard of Review | 4 |

Statement of the Issues

Did the Circuit Court err in its conclusion Dr. Walker was not entitled to a new trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel?

Statement on Publication and Oral Argument

This case is appropriate for publication under Wis. Stat. Rule §809.23(1)(a)(1, 2, 5). Counsel is aware of no published opinion of this Court or the Wisconsin Supreme Court which clearly states the standard trial courts are to apply when considering a claim of defense of property. This case involves exactly that question and would provide clarity for judges and practitioners. This case also provides this Court an opportunity to apply the standards of *State v. Carter* and *State v. Domke* in a factual scenario which does not involve the sexual abuse of a child. The use of firearms, "castle doctrine", and the duty to retreat are also topics of much public debate and clarification of the standards in Wisconsin would serve the public's interest in having a clear understanding of the applicable laws.

As this case is a good candidate for publication, oral argument would likely be of significant value. As noted, there is a dearth of case law on the standard for a claim of defense of property. While Dr. Walker contends it is logical to apply the same standards as a claim of self-defense, the State of Wisconsin may differ. Oral argument would allow this court the opportunity to develop the legal theories further than the parties briefs.

Statement of the Facts and Case

The facts of this case are relatively straightforward. In November of 2017 Dr. Scott Walker hired Dianne Alm to clean his house. (28:27). Dr. Walker then filed for bankruptcy before paying Ms. Alm. (28:29). Ms. Alm received a notice regarding this bankruptcy from the federal bankruptcy court. (28:29-30). Ms. Alm texted and left voice mails for Dr. Walker about the unpaid bill. (28: 29). She had suggested he could use his personal property rather than money to pay the bill. (Exhibit 1, Interview with Dianne Alm, 6:42-6:561) On July 11, 2018, Ms. Alm went to Dr. Walker's home to confront him over the unpaid bill. (28:30-31). Dr. Walker did not have his phone with him. (Exhibit 1, Scott Walker Arrest, 7:30-7:34). Dr. Walker then told Ms. Alm to leave his property. (28:26). When she didn't leave, Dr. Walker told her he was going to get his gun. (28:26). When Dr. Walker returned from his house with his firearm, Ms. Alm was in her car. but had not started her car. (28:36-37). Dr. Walker then raised his firearm, and Ms. Alm left the property.

A criminal complaint was filed on July 17, 2018, charging Dr. Walker with one count of Pointing a Firearm at Another. (1:1). The case was tried before a jury on October 22, 2018. (28:1). The jury found Dr. Walker guilty. (28:87). The same day the circuit court sentenced him to a \$700 fine plus court costs. (28:95). On November 6, 2018, Dr. Walker filed a timely notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief. (16:1). On May 13, 2019 Dr. Walker filed a motion for Post-Conviction relief, alleging he had received ineffective assistance of counsel and requesting a *Machner* hearing. (19:1-4). The Circuit Court held a *Machner* hearing on June 5th. (29:1). The Court ruled there was not ineffective assistance of counsel. (29:17; App. 26). The Court supplemented its oral ruling with a final order denying the request for a new trial on June 10, 2018. (20:1-3). Dr. Walker filed a timely notice of appeal on June 21, 2019. (21:1).

¹ Officer: "What's he owe ya" Alm: "\$750" Officer: "Were you attempting to trade?" Alm: "Yeah, yeah, I even said 'You got somethin' that' his garage is full of stuff".

Argument

I. Standard of Review

It is axiomatic the right to counsel is the right to effective counsel. State v. Johnson, 153 Wis. 121, 126 (1990) The standard for reviewing trial counsel's performance is well established; counsel must have performed deficiently and this deficiency must have prejudiced the defendant's defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). The case is reviewed from counsel's perspective at the time of trial, and there is a strong presumption counsel acted reasonably within professional norms. Johnson, 153 Wis. 127. The ultimate benchmark is whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result. Strickland, 466 U.S. 686.

The standard of review of the ineffective assistance of counsel components is a mixed question of law and fact. *Id*, at 698. The trial court's underlying findings of what happened will not be overturned unless clearly erroneous. *Johnson*, 153 Wis. 127. The ultimate determination of whether counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial to the defense are questions of law which this court reviews independently. *Id*. at 128.

II. The Circuit Court's Conclusion Counsel Had Considered Defense of Property is Clearly Erroneous

In Dr. Walker's motion for post conviction relief, he argued his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to raise a claim of defense of property². In its order denying Dr. Walker's request for a new trial, the Circuit Court wrote, "The allegation of ineffectiveness for failing to request a jury instruction on selfdefense is refuted because that defense was properly rejected as a matter of trial strategy." (20:1) The Court is correct trial counsel considered and discarded self-defense as a matter of strategy. However, Dr. Walker has argued counsel was ineffective due to a failure to raise a defense of property claim, not a self-defense claim.

 $^{^2}$ In the filed motion, heading I. erroneously states Self Defense, but the text throughout the motion refers to the defense of property, including the statutory citation immediately after the erroneous heading

Page 6 of 14

For the purposes of argument, Dr. Walker assumes the Circuit Court actually meant to state, "The allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to request a jury instruction on *Defense of Property* is refuted because that defense was properly rejected as a matter of trial strategy."³ This conclusion does not accurately reflect trial counsel's testimony, and is without a doubt erroneous.

Trial counsel had testified about his concerns with the retreat instruction at length. (29:5; App. 21). Counsel stated, "I decided not to go with self-defense because I was worried that the retreat instruction would have been requested." (29:5; App. 21). When asked specifically about defense of property counsel admitted, "I don't think I gave it sort of independent thought process in this case it probably deserved....In looking at it since then, I think there still might have been the retreat issues, but that's all after the fact. That wasn't in my preparation".⁴ (29:5-6; App. 21-22).

When reviewing trial counsel's performance, court's must use counsel's perspective at the time of trial. *Johnson*, 153 Wis. 127. The Circuit Court's factual finding counsel had considered defense of property due to the concerns regarding the retreat instruction are clearly erroneous. Either the Court forgot counsel had said the concerns came after the fact and not in his preparation, or the Court confused self-defense and defense of property. No matter which case, the factual conclusion trial counsel had dismissed defense of property as a matter of trial strategy is clearly refuted by counsel's testimony.

III. Counsel's Failure to Consider the Privilege of Defense of Property Falls Below an Objective Standard of Reasonableness

³ This would conform with the Court's oral ruling at the *Machner* hearing. The court discussed the interference with Dr. Walker's property, then turned to trial counsel's testimony he was concerned with the retreat instruction. (29:15-17; App. 24-26)

⁴ Counsel did state he had lumped defense of property in with self defense, followed with a statement he ultimately decided not to go with self-defense and defense of property, and then immediately clarified to say he decided not to go with self-defense, not the combination of the two defenses. (29:5; App. 21)

When presenting a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel the defendant must demonstrate counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 688. Counsel has a duty to reasonably investigate the law or make a reasonable strategic decision which makes further investigation unnecessary. *State v. Carter* and *State v. Domke* are instructive regarding the extent to which counsel is required to know or investigate the relevant law.

In Carter, the defendant argued his attorney was deficient for not presenting evidence of the victim's prior sexual assault. State v. Carter, 2010 WI 40, 324 Wis. 2d 640, 649 (2010). The attorney viewed a videotaped interview with the victim, and followed up with this information by arranging for an investigator to contact the victim's mother. State v. Carter, 324 Wis. 2d 668. The mother did not permit the investigator to speak with the victim. Id. The attorney noted the video taped interview depicted a "very sympathetic child" and he intended to pursue what he considered a wiser defense strategy, attacking the mother's credibility. Id. at 669. At this point, the attorney determined he did not need to investigate the alleged previous assault further. Id. The Wisconsin Supreme Court held it was not deficient for the attorney to further investigate the facts and admissibility of a prior sexual assault Id.

In State v. Domke, Domke argued his trial counsel was deficient for failing to object to hearsay statements made to a counselor or social worker. State v. Domke, 2011 WI 95, 337 Wis. 2d 268, 290 (2011) The victim had made statements to an outpatient therapist regarding alleged sexual contact from Domke. Id. These statements could have been objected to under State v. Huntington, 216 Wis. 2d 671 (1988). Domke, 337 Wis. 2d 293. The Court noted the trial attorney did not articulate a strategic reason as to why he allowed the testimony, and as such, a reasonable attorney should have investigated if it was admissible. Id, at 291. The Court then held the trial attorney performed deficiently by failing to object to the hearsay testimony because he had failed to investigate the relevant limitations on hearsay statements made for the purpose if diagnosis or treatment. Id, at 293.

Dr. Walker's case is much closer to the failure in *Domke* than it is to the reasonable attorney's actions in *Carter*. Counsel

6

admitted he did not give the defense the independent thought process it probably deserved, and in reflection, stated he probably would have used the defense. He made no attempt to defend his failure to investigate the law, and gave no reason why a court should consider his decision to not investigate the law to be reasonable. There was evidence Ms. Alm wanted to take Dr. Walker's property, and evidence he threatened force to prevent this taking; a reasonable attorney would have investigated whether this threat was priviledged. Dr. Walker's trial counsel did not, and thus performed deficiently.

A. Consideration of Retreat in the Context of Self Defense Does not Constitute a Reasonable Investigation of Law Relieving him of the Duty to Investigate Defense of Property

Trial Counsel testified he was concerned about the retreat jury instruction in terms of self-defense. The Trial Court's order also deals with the possibility of retreat. In the context of selfdefense, this concern is appropriate. Dr. Walker's ability to remove himself from a potentially dangerous situation would likely make his reemergence unreasonable.

Dr. Walker was not concerned with his personal well-being, but the possibility of Ms. Alm taking some of his property as payment for cleaning his house. The potential for interference with his property had not concluded when he went into his house. When Dr. Walker came back out from his house with his gun, Ms. Alm was in her car. She had not started it, or told Dr. Walker she was leaving. Dr. Walker could have no idea as to what Ms. Alm was intending to do. She very well could have exited the car to try and obtain his property. The unlawful interference Dr. Walker was defending from had yet to terminate. Dr. Walker had no reason to know it would terminate until Ms. Alm started her car after he raised his gun. As such, the two considerations are quite different, and Counsel's analysis of one, does not relieve him of the analysis of the other.

IV. Counsel's Error Undermines Confidence in the Outcome of This Case

In addition to showing his trial counsel was deficient, Dr. Walker must also demonstrate counsel's deficiency was

prejudicial to his defense. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 691-692. Prejudice is demonstrated when the defendant shows there is a reasonable probability that but for the errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *State v. Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, 358 Wis.. 2d 543, 572 (2014). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *Id*.

Prejudice from trial counsel's failure to raise the privilege of defense of property is quite easy to follow logically. Had the defense been raised, the jury should have been instructed on the privilege of defense of property.⁵ The jury could then find Dr. Walker's actions were reasonable, thus privileged and not criminal.

In its order denying Dr. Walker's motion for a new trial, the Circuit Court determined even if counsel was deficient, there was no prejudice. The Circuit Court's order states:

[T]he court would not have given a defense of property instruction if requested. It was objectively unreasonable for the defendant to believe that once any unlawful interference with his property had been terminated, and he was safely in his home, it was reasonable to reemerge and point a firearm at the victim who was already in her vehicle fumbling with her keys (20:2)

The Circuit Court's order is problematic for three reasons. As discussed above, the unlawful interference with Dr. Walker's property had not terminated when he went into his house. Secondly, Dr. Walker had no reason to know Ms. Alm was fumbling with her keys in an attempt to leave. Third, the Court overstepped into the province of the jury when it declared Dr. Walker's actions to be unreasonable.

When raising the privilege of self-defense, a circuit court must instruct the jury on the defense when a reasonable jury

⁵ Wis. Stat. §939.49(1) states "A person is privileged to threaten or intentionally use force against another for the purpose of preventing or terminating what the person reasonably believes to be an unlawful interference with the person's property. Only such degree of force or threat thereof may intentionally be used as the actor reasonably believes is necessary to prevent to terminate the interference. It is not reasonable to intentionally use force intended or likely to cause death or great bodily harm for the sole purpose of defense of one's property."

Page 10 of 14

could find a prudent person in the position of the defendant under the circumstances existing at the time of the incident could believe he was exercising the privilege of self-defense. State v. Stietz, 2017 WI 58, 375 Wis. 572, 583 (2017). A court may deny the instruction only when no reasonable basis exists for the defendant's belief another person was unlawfully interfering with his person. Id. Court's are not to weigh or to look at the totality of the evidence, this is the province of the jury. Id., 584. While Dr. Walker is not aware of any published appellate decisions which deal with this standard regarding the privilege of defense of property, it is logical to apply the same standard of self-defense to defense of property. See County of Fond Du Lac v. Gregoriou, 1988 Wisc. App. Lexis 941, 3-4, (1988) ("We conclude that the proper standard to apply for all defenses to criminal liability recited in secs. 939.42 through 939.49, Stats., logically requires application of the same rule.").

Ms. Alm had ignored a federal bankruptcy courts order to not try and collect this debt. She continued to leave messages try to collect, and when that did not work, she surprised Dr. Walker with a visit. When asked to leave, she didn't. In fact, she was still present after Dr. Walker came back with the gun he told her he was getting. A jury, viewing the evidence from Dr. Walker's perspective could easily have determined his actions were reasonable. If this defense had been argued and the Circuit Court failed to give the requested instruction, the failure to give the instruction would have been addressed at the appellate level as well. Without a jury to deliberate on whether Dr. Walker's actions were reasonable, no reasonable person can be confident this trial provided a just result.

9

Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, Dr.Walker respectfully requests this court reverse the Circuit Court's ruling and order the Circuit Court to set a new trial in this case.