Filed 10-03-2019 Pa

RECEIVED 10-03-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT 4

Case No. 2019AP001138 CR Circuit Court Case No. 2018CM000137

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SCOTT A. WALKER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR GRANT COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ROBERT P. VANDEHEY, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Lisa A. Riniker District Attorney State Bar No. 1036164 Grant County District Attorney's Office 130 West Maple Street Lancaster, Wisconsin 53813 (608) 723-4237

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 17, 2018, a criminal complaint was filed against Scott Walker alleging a July 11, 2018, violation of sec. 941.20(1)(c), Wis. Stats, pointing a firearm at another.(R.1). The case proceeded to a jury trial on October 22, 2018, where the jury convicted Mr. Walker of the crime.(R.28). On November 6, 2018, a Notice of Intent to Pursue Post-Conviction Relief was filed by Mr. Walker. (R.16). On May 13, 2019, a motion for post-conviction relief was filed alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. (R.19). A *Machner* hearing was held on June 5, 2019. (R.29). The Court did not find counsel to be ineffective and denied Mr. Walker's request for a new trial. (R.20). A notice of appeal was filed June 21, 2019. (R.21).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In November, 2017, Scott Walker hired Diane Alm to clean a home located in Grant County, Wisconsin. (R.28:27). After performing services, Ms. Alm communicated via text

with Mr. Walker the amount owed to her. (R.28:29). Eventually, Ms. Alm learned that Mr. Walker had filed for bankruptcy. (R.28:29,11.22-24).

On July 11, 2018, Ms. Alm learned that Mr. Walker was at the subject property and travelled to that address. (R.28:30-31). Ms. Alm's intentions were to ask Mr. Walker why he lied to her (about his willingness to pay for her cleaning services). (R.28:31,11.3-5). Ms. Alm parked in the driveway and, eventually, Mr. Walker parked his UTV near her vehicle. (R.11). Ms. Alm introduced herself to Mr. Walker and identified herself as the individual who did the cleaning. (R.28: 33-34). There was a brief discussion about the cleaning job Ms. Alm performed. (R.28:34). Ms. Alm indicated that once Mr. Walker realized who she was, his tone changed, and he told her to leave. (R.28:35). In a matter of seconds, the defendant asked Ms. Alm to leave and followed up by saying that he was getting his gun. (R.28:36,11.15-18). After that statement was made, Ms. Alm got into her vehicle. (R.28:36,11.21-22). As Ms. Alm was fumbling for her keys, she saw Mr. Walker coming out of the garage with a gun, causing her to freeze. (R.28:37,11. 8-16). Ms. Alm indicated the defendant was pointing the gun

at her. (R.28:38,11. 15-16). Ms. Alm was eventually able to start her car and leave the area. (R.28:39, 11.3-6).

ARGUMENT

THE COURT DID NOT ERROR WHEN FINDING THERE WAS NO INFEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND DENIED MR. WALKER'S REQUEST FOR A NEW TRIAL.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When claiming ineffective assistance of counsel, deficient performance and prejudice must be established. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668,687, 104 S.Ct. 2052 80 L.ED.2d 674 (1984). If one prong is not established, the Court need not consider the other. *Id*. at 697. Specific acts or omissions must be established to prove deficient performance. *Id*. at 690. The presumption is that counsel acted reasonably. *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121,127,449 N.W.2d 845 (1991).

In order to establish prejudice, a defendant must establish a reasonable probability that without the acts or omissions, the results of the proceeding would have been different. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694.

An ineffective assistance claim is a mixed question of law and fact. *State v. O'Brien,* 223 Wis.2d 303,324, 588 N.W.2d 8 (1999). A trial court's findings regarding the performance of counsel will be affirmed unless those

findings are clearly erroneous. *Id*. at 324-25, 588 N.W.2d 8.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. THERE WAS NO PREJUDICE TO MR. WALKER.

Mr. Walker asserts that the Court erred when determining no prejudice existed related to a defense of property defense. Specifically, the Court ordered:

"Second, any deficiency in counsel's performance was harmless. In taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the defense, the court would not have given a defense of property instruction if requested. It was objectively unreasonable for the defendant to believe that once any unlawful interference with his property had been terminated, and he was safely in his home, it was reasonable to reemerge and point a firearm at the victim who was already in her vehicle fumbling with her keys."

A defendant is not entitled to have a jury consider his or her theory of defense when there is no evidence to support it. *State v. Olsen*, 99 Wis.2d 572,578-79, 299 N.W.2d 632 (Ct. App. 1980); See also *State v. Bjerkaas*, 163 Wis. 2d. 949,954, 472 N.W.2d 615 (Ct. App. 1991). In order to justify criminal acts on the basis of self-defense, defense of others, or defense of property, the danger must be imminent. *State v. Dundon*, 226 Wis.2d 654,668, 594 N.W.2d 780 (1999). Further, a person may threaten only the degree of force "reasonably believe[d] is necessary to

prevent or terminate the interference." Wis. Stat. §939.49(1)(a). Also, "[i]t is not reasonable to intentionally use force intended or likely to cause death or great bodily harm for the sole purpose of defense of one's property." Id.

The facts of this case do not support a defense of property claim. There was not an impending threat by Ms. Alm to Mr. Walker's property. The uncontroverted testimony was that Ms. Alm remained standing outside of her vehicle, had a brief conversation with Mr. Walker, and retreated into her vehicle. Mr. Walker then returned from his home with a firearm and approached Ms. Alm.

There was not an impending threat by Ms. Alm. Ms. Alm was not forcing her way into Mr. Walker's home, garage, shed, or vehicle. The mere presence of Ms. Alm in Mr. Walker's driveway does not rise to the level of an imminent threat to Mr. Walker's property. There is even less of a threat to Mr. Walker's property when Mr. Walker exits his home and sees Ms. Alm already in her vehicle. Yet, Mr. Walker continued to approach Ms. Alm and point the firearm at her.

Additionally, the insertion of a firearm under these circumstances is wholly inappropriate and uses a degree of force that is likely to cause great bodily harm. The

defense of property statute at §939.49(1), specifically prohibits the introduction of such unreasonable force for a defense of property claim.

As such, because there was not an imminent threat, and because Mr. Walker used a degree of force likely to cause great bodily harm to defend his property, the defense of property defense is not available to him. There was no prejudice which resulted from the omission of that instruction.

II. THERE WAS NOT ANY DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE BY TRIAL COUNSEL.

There is not an ineffective assistance of counsel claim when counsel does not pursue a meritless issue. State v. Tolliver, 187 Wis.2d 346,360, 523 N.W.2d 113 (Ct. App. 1994). Ineffective assistance cases should be limited to situations where reasonable counsel should know enough to raise the issue. State v. McMahon, 186 Wis.2d 68,85, 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994). There needs to be a clear duty to raise defense of property as an affirmative defense before counsel can be found ineffective. Id.

With the facts as they are, it was not unreasonable for counsel to fail to pursue the issue. Counsel did consider issues of self-defense and indicated that he sort of lumped a defense of property claim in with it. (R.29:5).

Counsel went above and beyond his duty when even considering the meritless defense.

CONCLUSION

The State believes that the Circuit Court did not err when finding there was not ineffective assistance of counsel and/or prejudice to the defendant. The State respectfully requests the Court of Appeals to affirm the trial court's denial of Mr. Walker's request for a new trial.